
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
Monday, September 26, 2016 

7:00 P.M. 
40 East Center Avenue 

Village Hall Board Room 
 

REVISED 
MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
3. AWARDS AND PROCLAMATIONS 
 

a) A Proclamation Designating October 23 – October 31, 2016 as “Red Ribbon Week” 
 

4. CONSIDERATION OF THE AUGUST 22, 2016 VILLAGE BOARD MEETING MINUTES  
 

5. NON-AGENDA ITEMS AND VISITORS 
 

The Village President and Board of Trustees allocate fifteen (15) minutes during this item for those 
individuals who would like the opportunity to address the Village Board of Trustees on any matter not listed 
on the agenda.  Each person addressing the Village Board of Trustees is asked to limit their comments to a 
maximum of five (5) minutes. 
 

6. VILLAGE BOARD SETS THE ORDER OF THE MEETING 
 

The Village President and Board of Trustees will entertain requests from anyone present on the order of 
business to be conducted during the Village Board Meeting. 
 

7. VILLAGE FINANCE REPORT 
 

a) Warrant Report for September 16-30, 2016  
 

8. VILLAGE ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 
9. VILLAGE ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
10. VILLAGE PRESIDENT’S REPORT 

 
a) Appointment of Peter Arnstein to the Police Pension Fund Board of Trustees 

 
CONSENT AGENDA 

 
11. ACCEPTANCE OF THE CORRESPONDENCE 
 



Board of Trustees Regular Meeting – September 26, 2016 
 

Page 2 

Please note all correspondence was delivered to the Village Board of Trustees in the Informational Reports 
on September 9 and 16, 2016. 
 

12. A RESOLUTION SUPPORTING THE CONTINUED FEDERAL FUNDING OF THE MEDICARE 
STATE HEALTH INSURANCE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM 

 
OTHER BUSINESS 

 
13. SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE III OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE 

BLUFF MUNICIPAL CODE CONCERNING THE CLASS L AND W LIQUOR LICENSES 
 

14. A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SIGN EXEMPTION REQUEST FOR CHEVY EXCHANGE 
LOCATED AT 1 SHERWOOD TERRACE 

 
15. A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SIGN EXEMPTION REQUEST FOR HOMEWERKS WORLDWIDE 

LOCATED AT 45-85 ALBRECHT ROAD 
 
16. AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A VARIATION FROM THE VILLAGE’S SIDE YARD SETBACK 

REGULATIONS (311 E. Center Avenue) 
 
17. TRUSTEE’S REPORT 
 
18. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 
19. CONSIDERATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE SEPTEMBER 12, 2016 EXECUTIVE SESSION 

MEETING 
 

20. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

R. Drew Irvin 
Village Administrator 

 
The Village of Lake Bluff is subject to the requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.  Individuals with disabilities who plan to attend this meeting 
and who require certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding accessibility of the 
meeting or the facilities, are requested to contact R. Drew Irvin, Village Administrator, at 234-0774 or TDD number 234-2153 promptly to allow the Village of Lake 
Bluff to make reasonable accommodations. 
 
 
 
 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P R O C L A M A T I O N 
 

Designating October 23 – October 31, 2016 as “Red Ribbon Week” 
 

 WHEREAS, the most precious resources we have, our future leaders, are the 
children in our community; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, children face decisions about using alcohol, tobacco, and other 
drugs as early as their elementary school years; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, it is critical that the adults in children’s lives take the time to talk to 
them regularly about the risks of alcohol and other drugs, symbolized by the red ribbons 
in our community; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, parents, teachers and community leaders play an important role in 
providing positive activities which will give youth the opportunity to choose healthy 
lifestyles; and, 
 
 WHEREAS, the Village of Lake Bluff, LEAD, CROYA, SpeakUP! Coalition 
and our local schools are taking an active role in building assets in our youth and helping 
to teach them about positive decision making. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT PROCLAIMED BY THE VILLAGE 
PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE 
BLUFF, COUNTY OF LAKE, AND STATE OF ILLINOIS, that: October 23 
through October 31, 2016 is Red Ribbon Week in the Village of Lake Bluff and urge all 
citizens to do what they can to help our youth make a commitment to a drug-free life. 
 
PASSED this 26th day of September, 2016. 
 
    
       
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
____________________________   _________________________ 
Village Clerk      Village President 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
Agenda Item: 3a



  
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
REGULAR MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 12, 2016 

                                                                                                     
DRAFT MINUTES 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

 
Village President O’Hara called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. in the Lake Bluff Village Hall Board 
Room, and Village Clerk Aaron Towle called the roll.  
 
The following were present: 
 
Village President:  Kathleen O’Hara 
 
Trustees:   Barbara Ankenman 

Steve Christensen 
Mark Dewart 
Eric Grenier 
John Josephitis      

    William Meyer     
 
Also Present:   Aaron Towle, Village Clerk 

Drew Irvin, Village Administrator 
    Peter Friedman, Village Attorney 
    Susan Griffin, Finance Director      
    Michael Croak, Building Codes Supervisor 

Jeff Hansen, Village Engineer 
    David Belmonte, Police Chief 
    Michael Hosking, Deputy Police Chief 
    David Graf, Fire Chief 
    Jake Terlap, Public Works Superintendent 
    Brandon Stanick, Assistant to the Village Administrator (A to VA) 

Franco Bottalico, Administrative Intern 
   

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
President O’Hara led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

3. AWARDS AND PROCLAMATIONS 
 
Police Chief David Belmonte stated annually the Lake Bluff Police Department honors Police Officers 
who have contributed significantly to promoting safety in the Village.  Police Chief Belmonte presented 
the Lake Bluff Police Department plaque to Police Officer Mark Szalkowski for traffic and seat belt 
enforcement, Police Officer Timothy Kreusch for alcohol enforcement efforts, and Police Officer Jim 
Reynolds for his successful investigative work on a burglary case. Police Chief Belmonte thanked the 
Village Board and Police Department Staff for their service to the community. 
 
President O’Hara read the Proclamation designating October 2016 as Fire Prevention Month and thanked 
Fire Chief Graf and the volunteer fire department for their service to the community. 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting September 12, 2016 
 

2 
 

4. CONSIDERATION OF THE MINUTES 
 
Trustee Josephitis moved to approve the August 22, 2016 Board of Trustees Regular Meeting Minutes as 
presented.  Trustee Christensen seconded the motion.  The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

5. NON-AGENDA ITEMS AND VISITORS  
 
President O’Hara stated the Village President and Board of Trustees allocate fifteen minutes for those 
individuals who would like the opportunity to address the Village Board on any matter not listed on the 
agenda.  Each person addressing the Village Board of Trustees is asked to limit their comments to a 
maximum of five (5) minutes. 
 
There were no requests to address the Board. 
 

6. VILLAGE BOARD SETS THE ORDER OF THE MEETING 
 
At the request of those present, Trustee Dewart moved to take Agenda Items #13 then return to the regular 
order of the meeting.  Trustee Grenier seconded the motion.  The motion passed on a unanimous voice 
vote. 
 

7. ITEM #13 – A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN REVIEW FOR EXTERIOR 
ALTERATIONS TO THE CENTRAL LAKE COUNTY JOINT ACTION WATER AGENCY 
BUILDING AT 200 ROCKLAND ROAD 
 
President O’Hara reported the Central Lake County Joint Action Water Agency (CLCJAWA) is proposing 
to make exterior changes to their building at 200 Rockland Road as part of a project to replace the ozone 
generating equipment inside the plant.  The exterior changes include vent louvres, acoustical hoods over 
some vents, and sound walls by the rooftop chiller and the backwash blower.  In a separate project, a new 
rooftop air conditioner is proposed.  She further reported Bill Soucie, Operation Director for CLCJAWA, 
appeared at the July 12th and September 6th Architectural Board of Review (ABR) meetings.  At the July 
12th meeting, the ABR voted 4-0 to recommend site plan approval for the rooftop air conditioning unit 
and also voted 4-0 on a separate motion to recommend approval for the building alterations related to the 
ozone generating equipment project. 
 
President O’Hara reported subsequent to the July 12th meeting, CLCJAWA received a report from an 
acoustical engineer that they had engaged to measure noise levels; the report indicated that the water plant 
does not comply with all of the noise standards of the Illinois Pollution Control Board and that revisions 
to the project design would be necessary to bring the water plant into compliance.  Mr. Soucie and Darrell 
Blenniss Jr (Executive Director of CLCJAWA) returned to the ABR on September 6th and presented a 
revised design that their acoustical engineer has advised will comply with the State noise standards. She 
further reported the new design is described in the attached August 28, 2016 letter from CLCJAWA and 
includes two steel sound walls to deflect sound from a rooftop chiller and the backwash blowers, acoustical 
hoods over some louvres, and the relocation of some vents to the rooftop. CLCJAWA will hire a different 
acoustical engineer to measure noise levels at the completion of the project to verify that the water plant 
is in compliance. At the September 6th meeting, the ABR voted on one motion to recommend site plan 
approval for the two steel sound walls and on a separate motion to recommend approval of the other 
proposed changes, including the vent louvres, acoustical hoods, and rooftop fans and vents.  Each motion 
was approved by a vote of 6-0. 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting September 12, 2016 
 

3 
 

Mr. Bill Soucie, Operations Director for CLCJAWA, showed a picture of the water treatment plant and 
noted the location for the rooftop unit and backwash blowers for the rooftop chiller.  He noted the 
equipment is only visible from the east elevation which is currently a vacant lot.  Mr. Soucie showed 
pictures of the front elevations from IL. Rt. 176 and noted the overgrown landscape provides screening to 
the front of the building.  He stated the new rooftop unit will be located on the north end of the building 
and showed a picture illustrating its view from the roadway.  He also noted there is currently an HVAC 
unit located at the south edge of the rooftop. 
 
Mr. Soucie explained the mitigation of the existing equipment sound sources with sound barriers 
associated with the new ozone system.  The proposed steel sound barriers will be located behind the 
facility and the color will be selected by the ABR.   
 
Mr. Soucie reviewed the elevation changes for the new ozone system and noted the changes will 
accommodate the new industrial standards requirement for industrial equipment and will meet the sound 
emission standards of the Illinois Pollution Control Board. He showed a picture of the east and south 
elevations and location for the new proposed acoustic louvers and hoods noting the equipment color will 
match the existing color.  Lastly, Mr. Soucie stated the facility is not in compliance with current 
regulations and the proposed upgrades will address non-compliance issues. 
  
As there were no further comments from the Board, Trustee Dewart moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee 
Christensen seconded the motion.   The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (6) Ankenman, Christensen, Dewart, Grenier, Josephitis and Meyer 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (0)   
 

8. ITEM #7A – WARRANT REPORT FOR SEPTEMBER 1-15, 2016 AND AUGUST 2016 
PAYROLL EXPENDITURES 
 
President O’Hara reported expenditure of Village funds for payment of invoices in the amount of 
$276,657.75 for September 1-15, 2016. 
 
President O’Hara reported expenditure of Village funds for payroll in the amount of $270,089.36 for 
August 2016. 
 
As such, the total expenditures for this period is in the amount of $546,747.11. 
 
President O’Hara further reported this warrant report includes a payment to DeMuth Inc. for the 
emergency repair of water main breaks and a broken fire hydrant on Armour Drive.  This expenditure was 
estimated at $16,500; however, a broken fire hydrant increased the project cost to $20,700. Pursuant to 
the Village’s Purchasing Policies Section 6.4, purchases in excess of $20,000 made to remedy an 
emergency condition may be accomplished by Village Administrator authorization, to subsequently be 
ratified by the Village Board. 
 
As there were no questions from the Board, Trustee Meyer moved to approve the Warrant Report.   Trustee 
Christensen seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting September 12, 2016 
 

4 
 

Ayes:  (6) Christensen, Dewart, Grenier, Josephitis, Meyer and Ankenman 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (0) 
 

9. ITEM #7B – AUGUST 2016 FINANCE REPORT 
 
At President O’Hara’s request, Finance Director Susan Griffin provided a brief summary of the August 
2016 Finance Report highlighting major revenue sources and expenditures for the period:   

 
 Sales tax revenue for May 2016 of $282,000 is $51,000 or 22% greater than May 2015;  
 Home rule sales tax of $99,000 is $39,000 or 65% greater than May 2015;  
 Income tax revenue of $200,000 for May-August 2016 is 17% lower than the same period in 

2015; and 
 Building permit revenue is $206,000 and is $19,000 or 8.5% less than May-August 2015. 

 
Finance Director Griffin stated Staff continues to closely monitor the actions in Springfield and assess the 
implications to the Village of potential changes in State-shared revenue allocations, property tax limitation 
changes, or pension reform law.  Finance Director Griffin stated the Finance Committee is scheduled to 
meet on September 19, 2016 at 6:00 p.m. 
 
Trustee Ankenman moved to accept the Finance Report. Trustee Josephitis seconded the motion.  The 
motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

10. ITEM #8 – VILLAGE ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT REGARDING THE DISPOSITION OF 
CERTAIN VILLAGE RECORDS  
 
Village Administrator Drew Irvin briefly reviewed the State’s process regarding disposition of records.  
The informational report summarizes the paper documents which have been converted into electronic 
files. Staff will coordinate disposal of the files, pursuant to State law, presuming there are no concerns. 
 
Trustee Grenier moved to accept the Report. Trustee Dewart seconded the motion.  The motion passed on 
a unanimous voice vote. 
 

11. ITEM #9 – VILLAGE ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
Village Attorney Peter Friedman had no report. 
 

12. ITEM #10 – VILLAGE PRESIDENT’S REPORT 
 
President O’Hara reported Patriotic Spirit Day in Lake Bluff was successful and reported on the upcoming 
Public Safety Open House scheduled for September 17th.  At the request of President O’Hara, Village 
Administrator Irvin provided an update on the Whiffle Ball charity event held on September 10th. 
 

13. ITEM #11 – ACCEPTANCE OF THE CORRESPONDENCE 
 
President O’Hara introduced the correspondence from the Informational Reports on August 19, 26 and 
September 2, 2016. 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting September 12, 2016 
 

5 
 

Trustee Ankenman moved to accept the correspondence as submitted. Trustee Josephitis seconded the 
motion.  The motion passed on a unanimous voice vote. 
 

14. ITEM #12 – SECOND READING OF AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE LAKE BLUFF 
ZONING REGULATIONS TO ESTABLISH A PROCESS AND RELATED REGULATIONS 
FOR PLANNED MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENTS 

 
Trustee Josephitis recused himself from the deliberation and left the dais. 
 
President O’Hara reported in May 2016 the Village received a zoning petition from The Roanoke Group, 
LLC (Petitioner) seeking: (i) a text amendment to the Village’s Zoning Code establishing regulations for 
Planned Mixed-Use Developments (PMD) as a special use in the B Residence District (R-4), C Residence 
District (R-5) and the Central Business District (CBD) (Text Amendment); and (ii) a special use permit 
for a PMD to permit the construction and maintenance of a 16 unit multi-family structure and related 
improvements (Development) at 120 E. Scranton Avenue (former PNC Bank property) to construct and 
maintain the Development at the Property. 
 
President O’Hara reported the purpose of PMDs is to allow for modification of underlying use, bulk, space 
and yard regulations that may impose unnecessary rigidities on the proposed development or 
redevelopment of land that requires an individual, planned approach.  The two-phase review process of 
the PMD Ordinance includes: 
 

 Optional preliminary public meeting with the PCZBA to obtain feedback on the potential PMD; 
 Development Concept Plan review public hearing with the PCZBA; 
 Optional Development Concept Plan review workshop meeting and review by ABR; 
 Development Concept Plan consideration by the Village Board;  
 Final Development Plan review public hearings & public meetings with PCZBA and ABR; and 
 Final Development Plan consideration by the Village Board.  

 
In addition, President O’Hara reported at the conclusion of the August 17th public hearing regarding the 
text amendment, the PCZBA voted (6-1) to recommend the Village Board: (i) approve and adopt the 
attached ordinance providing for a text amendment establishing a process and related regulations for 
PMDs; and (ii) consider including in the PMD ordinance a requirement that two-thirds of the Village 
Trustees must vote in favor of a proposed PMD if the PCZBA has recommended that the proposed PMD 
be denied.  The PCZBA member who did not vote in favor of the PMD ordinance expressed concern with 
the PMD option as an alternative to the underlying zoning regulations; more specifically, the concern was 
that the PMD draft language did not require the redevelopment of qualifying properties to use a PMD 
approval process. The Village Board approved first reading of the ordinance at its meeting on August 22, 2016.   
 
Trustee Meyer expressed his opposition to a three story development on Block Three noting he does not 
want to see Lake Bluff transformed by large downtown developments.  He stated a three story 
development would have negative effects and alter the appearance of downtown.  The public cost will 
increase the developers’ profit because they would be allowed to build more units in the same footprint 
and this is unfair to residents.  Trustee Meyer expressed his preference to amend the proposed ordinance 
to prohibit the construction of a three story development. He expressed his understanding this could be 
accomplished by establishing a 30 ft. height restriction in the proposed ordinance.  Trustee Meyer thanked 
the public for their involvement in the previous public hearings. 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting September 12, 2016 
 

6 
 

Trustee Meyer moved to amend the proposed ordinance to include a 30 ft. height restriction.  Trustee 
Dewart seconded the motion.  A discussion followed. 
 
President O’Hara asked for comments from the Trustees regarding the height restrictions amendment.  It 
was the consensus of the Village Board to include the 30 ft. height restriction in the proposed PMD 
Ordinance. 
 
Village Attorney Peter Friedman suggested a new subsection, 10-15-3 (c), maximum PMD height be 
incorporated stating “no principal building or accessory structure shall be erected or altered on any lot in 
any PMD so that said building or structure exceeds a maximum height of 30 ft.”.  Village Attorney 
Friedman also suggested adding a third paragraph to section 10-15-4 (c) stating “shall in no event allow 
for the maximum height of any principle building or accessory structure within the PMD Ordinance to 
exceed 30 ft. except pursuant to and in conjunction with an application for approval of a variation from 
Section 10-15-4 in accordance with the variation procedures set forth in Section 10-2-4”.     
 
Following a discussion, the motion to amend the PMD Ordinance passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Dewart, Grenier, Meyer, Ankenman and Christensen 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (0)  
 
Trustee Ankenman recommended section 10-15-2B(4) be amended to include a provision that if the 
PCZBA does not act then it does not automatically become a favorable recommendation it would be no 
recommendation. 
 
Trustee Ankenman moved to amend Section 10-15-2B(4) to “shall be deemed a decision to make no 
recommendation”.  Trustee Grenier seconded the motion.  A discussion followed. 
 
Following a discussion, the motion to amend the PMD Ordinance passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Grenier, Meyer, Ankenman, Christensen and Dewart 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (0)  
 
President O’Hara opened the floor for public comments. 
 
Mr. Rick Lesser (resident) stated he is not a neighbor of the property but he has been concerned about 
land use abating the existing zoning in the Village.  He congratulated the Village Board and stated this 
action was an excellent move in making this PMD Ordinance now something that is no longer a green 
light to the urbanization of Lake Bluff.  He expressed his preference to have more safeguards built into 
the PMD Ordinance to protect existing neighbors.  He thanked the Village Board for amending the PMD 
Ordinance. 
 
Mr. Lee Nysted (resident) thanked the Village Board for listening to residents. 
 
Mr. Terrence Moran (resident) thanked the Village Board and expressed his opinion there has not been 
one single person that has moved to Lake Bluff in hopes for a bigger downtown.  He stated the Village is 
wonderful the way it is and hopes that it stays that way. 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting September 12, 2016 
 

7 
 

Trustee Ankenman moved to approve second reading of the ordinance as amended. Trustee Grenier 
seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (5) Meyer, Ankenman, Christensen, Dewart and Grenier 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (0)  
 
Trustee Josephitis returned to the dais and assumed his position as Trustee. 
 

15. ITEM #14 – A RESOLUTION AUTHORZING AND APPROVING AN AGREEMENT WITH 
PETER BAKER & SONS CONSTRUCTION AND WAIVER OF COMPETTIVE BIDDING TO 
COMPLETE MISCELLANEOUS ASPHALT PATCHING AND TRAIL REPAIRS 
 
President O’Hara reported the Village’s FY16-17 Budget designates funds for making improvements to 
the asphalt pavement around the Fire Training Building at the Public Works Center as well as for 
resurfacing of a portion of the asphalt trail running north of the Lake Bluff Elementary School on the west 
side of Green Bay Road.  She further reported at the request of the Village, Peter Baker & Son Construction 
assessed the existing conditions of the pavement for the projects, made recommendations on the cost 
effective ways to repair the pavement, and prepared a proposal for the recommended work.  Peter Baker 
and Son Construction submitted a proposal and the Village Engineer recommends the Village Board 
approve a contract in the amount of $59,386.45 to complete the project.  The work includes the repaving 
of 630 square yards of asphalt around the Fire Training Building and resurfacing approximately 1,510 
lineal feet of the trail from the Lake Bluff Elementary School property to the south side of Belle Foret 
Drive.   
 
President O’Hara reported the Village’s FY16-17 Budget contains $25,000 for pavement repairs at the 
Public Works Center and $30,000 for the asphalt trail resurfacing for a total of $55,000.  The Village 
Engineer recommends the Village Board waive the competitive bidding process, allocate an additional 
$4,386.45 to the project, and award the contract to Peter Baker and Son Construction for the amount of 
$59,386.45.    
 
As there were no questions from the Board, Trustee Josephitis moved to adopt the resolution. Trustee 
Dewart seconded the motion.   The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (6) Ankenman, Christensen, Dewart, Grenier, Josephitis and Meyer 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (0)   
 

16. ITEM #15 – A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A CONSTRUCTION 
CONTRACT AND WAIVER OF COMPETITIVE BIDS TO COMPLETE THE EMERGENCY 
REPAIR OF MOFFETT ROAD 
 
President O’Hara reported in 2016 the Village has received a total of six proposals for temporary repairs 
to Moffett Road at the land bridge slope failure located just south of the intersection of Moffett Road and 
East Witchwood Lane. After monitoring the slope failure for the past year and reviewing the latest 
submitted proposals, it is recommended by the Village Engineer that the Village waive competitive 
bidding and enter into a construction contract with V3 Construction Group, LTD. of Woodridge Illinois 
for a lump sum fee of $93,987 to construct the temporary repairs to the Moffett Road land bridge.     



Board Trustees Regular Meeting September 12, 2016 
 

8 
 

President O’Hara reported the proposed repairs include the installation of a temporary sheet piling wall at 
the bottom of the slope, filling the eroded area with riprap, re-setting the guard rail, replacing a 50’ section 
of curb and gutter, and repairing the damaged portion of the asphalt street.  The repairs are intended to 
provide a stable roadway until the slope can be permanently repaired and regraded, which is scheduled to 
take place in 2018, as previously discussed by the Village Board.   
 
In response to a comment from the Board, Village Engineer Jeff Hansen stated there won’t be much of a 
cost savings even with the reuse of material located at the bottom of the hill.  The permanent repaired 
scheduled for 2018 will be 80% Stated funded. 
 
Trustee Josephitis asked if the condition have gotten worse. Village Engineer Hansen stated the land 
bridge slope and pavement located behind the property is slowly deteriorating.  Staff has explored other 
options and the proposed repairs are the best options at this time. 
 
In response to a question from Trustee Dewart, Village Engineer Hansen stated the sheet piling wall is 
located at the bottom of the slope.  The head wall around the culvert and the wing wall have separated. 
The proposed sheet piling wall and riprap will fill the gap and prevent much of the materials underneath 
the culvert from being washed away; however, it will not prevent materials from sliding down from the 
top of the slope.  Village Engineer Hansen reviewed the permanent repair process for the slope.  Village 
Administrator Irvin reviewed the criteria Village Engineer Hansen used to evaluate the various proposed 
solutions. 
 
Trustee Dewart inquired of the timeframe.  Village Engineer Hansen stated the proposal provides 10 
working days with partial lane closures and it will commence in the fall probably October. 
 
In response to a question from Trustee Christensen, Village Engineer Hansen stated that while sealed bid 
proposals were not solicited, he did speak with a number of contractors when arriving at his 
recommendation.  
 
In response to a question from Trustee Ankenman, Village Engineer Hansen stated the bid ranged between 
$65,500 and $280,000.  The lowest bid option proposed a sheet pile wall approximately 15 ft. behind the 
existing curb but no repairs to the bottom of the slope. 
 
Trustee Grenier inquired of the use of grant monies.  Village Engineer Hansen stated the estimated cost 
for the permanent repairs is $775,000.  The grant funds would allow re-pavement of Moffett Road from 
the ravine to the southern Village limits which amounted to approximately $1.2 million.  
 
As there were no further comments from the Board, Trustee Christensen moved to adopt the resolution. 
Trustee Dewart seconded the motion.   The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (6) Christensen, Dewart, Grenier, Josephitis, Meyer and Ankenman 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (0)  
 

17. ITEM #16 – AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE III OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
MUNICIPAL CODE CONCERNING THE CLASS L AND W LIQUOR LICENSES 
 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting September 12, 2016 
 

9 
 

President O’Hara reported from time to time, the Village receives inquiries from non-local non-profit/civic 
groups and catering establishments outside of the Village limits regarding liquor licenses.  Presently, the 
Liquor Regulations of the Village do not provide classes of licenses to serve these groups.  In order to fill this 
gap as well as improve the flexibility and enforceability of the Liquor Regulations, the Village Liquor 
Commissioner is recommending the following amendments to the Liquor Code: 
 

 Waiving the initial application fee for the Class L and W Event Licenses; 
 Striking the requirement that at least one officer of the requesting organization be a resident of the 

Village and sign the application for the Class L special events license; 
 Eliminating the language in the Class W license that limits applicants to those who hold a valid 

Village Food and Beverage license;  
 Adding flexibility to the Class W license by creating a Class W Event license that would allow 

applicants to seek, in addition to the current annual license for $500, a $50 per event license that the 
Liquor Commissioner could issue in process similar to that of the current special events license.  The 
draft ordinance limits applicants to no more than 4 “event” licenses per calendar year. 

 
In response to a question from Trustee Ankenman, Village Administrator Irvin stated caterers outside of 
the Village’s corporate limits have expressed interest in catering events similar to those of local caterers. 
The current liquor license restricts outside caterers from getting a local license because they do not have 
a current Lake Bluff food and beverage license.  The proposal would allow outside caterers to provide 
their services within the Village and sell alcohol.  He stated applicants must meet State and local 
requirements for a liquor license.  A discussion followed. 
 
Trustee Josephitis moved to approve first reading of the ordinance.  Trustee Meyer seconded the 
motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (6) Dewart, Grenier, Josephitis, Meyer, Ankenman and Christensen 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (0)  
 

18. ITEM #17 – TRUSTEE’S REPORT 
  
There was no Trustee’s report. 
 

19. ITEM #18 – EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
At 8:13 p.m. Trustee Ankenman moved to enter into Executive Session for the purpose of discussing 
Property Disposition (5 ILCS 120/2(c)(6)) and Personnel (5 ILCS 120/2(c)(2)).  Trustee Josephitis 
seconded the motion.  The motion passed on the following roll call vote: 
 
Ayes:  (6) Grenier, Josephitis, Meyer, Ankenman, Christensen and Dewart 
Nays:  (0) 
Absent: (0)  
 
Trustee Josephitis departed at 8:14 p.m. 
 
There being no further business to discuss, Trustee Meyer moved to adjourn out of executive session.  
Trustee Dewart seconded the motion and the motion passed on a unanimous voice vote at 8:51 p.m. 



Board Trustees Regular Meeting September 12, 2016 
 

10 
 

20. ITEM #19 – ADJOURNMENT 
                                                                              
Trustee Grenier moved to adjourn the regular meeting.  Trustee Meyer seconded the motion and the 
motion passed on a unanimous voice vote.  The meeting adjourned at 8:52 p.m. 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
______________________________  _____________________________ 
R. Drew Irvin      Aaron Towle 
Village Administrator     Village Clerk 





















































 
 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

  
Agenda Item: 10a 

  

Subject: 
APPOINTMENT TO VARIOUS ADVISORY BOARDS AND 
COMMISSIONS 

  
Action Requested: APPROVAL OF APPOINTMENT (Voice Vote) 
  
Originated By: VILLAGE PRESIDENT 
  
Referred To:  VILLAGE BOARD 

 
Summary of Background and Reason for Request: 
 
Subject to the consent of the Board of Trustees, the Village President appoints members to the 
Village’s various advisory Boards and Commissions.  Village resident Peter Arnstein is recommended 
for appointment to the Police Pension Fund Board of Trustees for a term expiring April 30, 2018. 
 
Village President’s Recommendation:  Approval of Appointment. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 9/26/2016 
 



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
             Agenda Item:  12 

 
 
 
Subject: 

A RESOLUTION SUPPORTNG THE CONTINUED FEDERAL FUNDING 
OF THE MEDICARE STATE HEALTH INSTURANCE ASSISTANCE 
PROGRAM 

 
Action Requested: 

 
CONSIDERATION OF THE RESOLUTION (Voice Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
SENIOR RESOURCE COMMISSION 

 
Referred To:  

 
VILLAGE BOARD 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
Lake Forest and Lake Bluff have jointly funded the mission of the Senior Resource Commission 
(“Commission”) for decades.  Dickinson Hall serves as the hub of activity and services for older adults in 
Lake Forest, Lake Bluff and Knollwood. An extensive variety of programs, classes, special interest groups, 
parties and trips are offered that are designed to provide enrichment and social experiences. Social services 
designed to help older adults maintain their independence and remain in their own homes include 
transportation and a variety of support services. 
 
In early July the Commission was made aware of a threat to eliminate the funding of the Medicare State 
Health Insurance Assistance Program (“SHIP”). This federally funded program is critical to helping senior 
citizens, people with disabilities and their families navigate Medicare; it provides training updates, 
materials and support to volunteer workers who in turn provide free, unbiased, one-to-one counseling to 
help individuals navigate Medicare benefits. Currently, 100 participants at Dickinson Hall utilize this 
service on an annual basis. The Senate Appropriations Committee has passed a bill that will eliminate 
SHIP funding. This bill will now move on to the House Appropriations Committee for consideration. The 
Commission has reviewed the SHIP program and determined that SHIP is extremely valuable to the aging 
adults in our community; to that end, Village Staff has prepared a resolution calling for action to support 
the continued Federal funding of SHIP. The City of Lake Forest City Council unanimously passed the 
same resolution on August 1, 2016. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

 Resolution Supporting Continued Funding of SHIP. 
 

Senior Resource Commission Recommendation:      Approval of the Resolution.  
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:      Approval of the Resolution. 

 
Date Referred to Village Board: 9/26/2016 



RESOLUTION NO. 2016- 
 

A RESOLUTION SUPPORTING THE CONTINUED FEDERAL FUNDING OF THE 
MEDICARE STATE HEALTH INSURANCE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM 

WHEREAS, in July 2016, the Federal Senate Appropriation Committee passed a bill to 
eliminate the funding for the Medicare State Health Insurance Program; and, 

 
WHEREAS, this bill will now move forward to the Federal House Appropriations 

Committee for consideration; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the Medicare State Health Insurance Program is critical to helping senior 

citizens, disabled people and their families navigate Medicare; and, 
 
WHEREAS, the Medicare State Health Insurance Program provides training to volunteer 

workers who in turn provide free, unbiased, one to one counseling to help individuals navigate 
Medicare benefits; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the Senior Resource Commission finds this program extremely valuable to the 

aging adults in our community; and, 
 

WHEREAS, at least one hundred members of Dickinson Hall and their families utilize this 
program on an annual basis; and, 
 

WHEREAS, the Senior Resource Commission strongly supports the continued funding of 
the Medicare State Health Insurance Assistance Program. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the President and Village Board of the Village of 
Lake Bluff, County of Lake, State of Illinois, as follows: 
 

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals are incorporated into this Resolution as findings of the 
President and Village Board. 
 

SECTION 2: The President and Village Board of the Village of Lake Bluff, County of 
Lake, State of Illinois, do hereby request continued Federal funding of the Medicare State Health 
Insurance Assistance Program. 
 

SECTION 3: That the Village Administrator is hereby directed to transmit this request in 
writing to the Chairman and Ranking Members of the Federal House Appropriation Committee 
representing the Village of Lake Bluff. 

 
SECTION 4:  This resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption and 

approval in the manner provided by law. 



PASSED this ___ day of September, 2016 
 
AYES  (0) 
 
NAYS  (0) 
 
ABSENT (0) 
 
APPROVED this ___ day of September, 2016 
 
     
  
             
       Village President 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
      
Village Clerk 
 
 



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
             Agenda Item:  13 

 
 
 
Subject: 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF TITLE 3 OF 
THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF MUNICIPAL CODE CONCERNING THE 
CLASS L AND W LIQUOR LICENSES  

 
Action Requested: 

 
SECOND READING APPROVAL (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
LIQUOR COMMISSIONER 

 
Referred To:  

 
VILLAGE BOARD 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
From time to time, the Village receives inquiries from non-local non-profit/civic groups and catering 
establishments outside of the Village limits regarding liquor licenses.  Presently, the Liquor Regulations of 
the Village do not provide classes of licenses to serve these groups.  In order to fill this gap as well as 
improve the flexibility and enforceability of the Liquor Regulations, the Village Liquor Commissioner is 
recommending the following amendments to the Liquor Code: 
 

1. Waiving the initial application fee for the Class L and W Event Licenses; 
2. Striking the requirement that at least one officer of the requesting organization be a resident of the 

Village and sign the application for the Class L special events license; 
3. Eliminating the language in the Class W license that limits applicants to those who hold a valid 

Village Food and Beverage license;  
4. Adding flexibility to the Class W license by creating a Class W Event license that would allow 

applicants to seek, in addition to the current annual license for $500, a $50 per event license that 
the Liquor Commissioner could issue in process similar to that of the current special events license.  
The draft ordinance limits applicants to no more than 4 “event” licenses per calendar year. 

 
The Village Board approved first reading of the ordinance at its meeting on September 12, 2016.  The 
Village Attorney and Village Staff will be available to answer questions from the Board.  
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

 Ordinance Amending the Village’s Liquor Code. 
 

Liquor Commissioner’s Recommendation:      Consider approval of the ordinance.  
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:      Consider approval of the ordinance. 

 
Date Referred to Village Board: 9/26/2016 



 

 
 
 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-__ 
 
 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING  
TITLE 3 OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF MUNICIPAL CODE  

CONCERNING THE CLASS L AND W LIQUOR LICENSES 
 
 

Passed by the Board of Trustees, _______________, 2016 

Printed and Published, __________________, 2016 
 
 
 

Printed and Published in Pamphlet Form 
by Authority of the 

President and Board of Trustees 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 
 
I hereby certify that this document 
was properly published on the date 
stated above. 
 
 
 
      
Village Clerk 



 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-__ 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING  
TITLE 3 OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF MUNICIPAL CODE  

CONCERNING THE CLASS L AND W LIQUOR LICENSES 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Illinois Liquor Control Act, 235 ILCS 5/1-1 et seq., 
the Village of Lake Bluff has the authority to license and regulate the retail sale of alcoholic 
beverages in the Village; and, 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 8 of Chapter 2 of Title 3 of the Village Code of 

the Village of Lake Buff, Illinois, the Village regulates the number, kind, and classification of 
licenses for retail sale and delivery of alcoholic liquor (“Liquor Regulations”); and, 

 
WHEREAS, the Village desires to amend the Liquor Regulations to update and 

clarify the requirements for Class L and W liquor licenses to improve the efficiency and 
enforceability of the Liquor Regulations; and, 
 

WHEREAS, the President and the Board of Trustees of the Village have found 
and determined that the adoption of the amendments set forth in this Ordinance are in the best 
interest of the Village and its residents. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND THE 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, COUNTY OF LAKE, STATE 
OF ILLINOIS, as follows: 

 
Section 1. Recitals.      

The foregoing recitals are incorporated into and made a part of this Ordinance by 
this reference as if fully set forth. 

Section 2. Amendments to Section 1-12-3 of the Village Code.   

The portion of the table titled “Liquor Licenses,” in the table titled “License Fees,” 
in Section 3 entitled, “Schedule of Fees, Charges and Rates,” of Chapter 12 entitled 
“Comprehensive Fee Schedule,” of Title 1 entitled, “Administration,” of the Lake Bluff Municipal 
Code, shall be and it is hereby amended as follows: 

 

Description   Amount   

Municipal 
Code 

Provision   

Liquor licenses:       

  Initial application fee (does not apply to 
applications for Class L or W Event 
Licenses) 

250 .00   3-2-4B   

  Annual license fees; fees for all liquor 
licenses, except Class L and W Event, that 
are issued on or after November 1 shall be 
prorated on a semiannual basis:   

  3-2-9   



 - 2 -

    Class A   2,500 .00     

    Class B   940 .00     

    Class C   2,500 .00     

    Class D   2,500 .00     

    Class L   30 .00 per event     

    Class P   No charge     

    Class R   $1,250 .00     

    Class S   1,250 .00     

    Class T   1,250 .00     

    Class U   1,250 .00     

    Class V   2,750 .00     

    Class W Annual License  500 .00     

  Class W Event License 50.00  

    Class X   500 .00     

    Class Y   1,000 .00     

    Class Z   275 .00     

    Class AA   $250.00, provided that this 
charge will be waived for 
holders of an existing village 
liquor license   

  

 
 
Section 3. Amendments to Section 3-2-8 of the Village Code.   
 
Section 8, entitled “Classes of Licenses," of Chapter 2, entitled “Liquor Control,” 

of Title 3, entitled "Business and License Regulations," of the Lake Bluff Municipal Code, shall 
be and it is hereby amended as follows: 

 
"3-2-8: Every person engaged in the retail sale of alcoholic liquor 
in the village shall possess a license of one of the following 
classes: 
 

* * * 
 

E.  Class L, special events license, which shall authorize the retail 
sale of alcoholic liquor by educational, political, civic, fraternal, 
religious or other nonprofit organizations, at a picnic, outing, 
festival or other such similar special event only for 
consumption on the premises or within the area specifically 



 - 3 -

designated in such license and shall in no event be valid for 
more than forty eight (48) hours. At least one officer of the 
organization must be a resident of the village and must sign 
the license application. Satisfactory evidence from the owner 
of the premises shall be furnished showing the authorization to 
the applicant for the use of said premises, including the sale of 
alcoholic liquor, for the period for which the license is 
requested. No applicant may apply for more than four (4) class 
L licenses in any calendar year. 

 
* * * 

  
L.  Caterer’s License 
 

1. Class W Annual License, available only to holders of a 
valid village food and beverage license, which shall 
authorize the retail sale of alcoholic liquor by catering 
establishments caterers solely between the hours of 
eleven o'clock (11:00) A.M. and twelve o'clock (12:00) 
midnight, in connection with, and as an incidental part of, 
the catering of food for private events at a premises not 
otherwise licensed for the retail sales of alcoholic liquor. A 
"private event" shall be defined as an event not available to 
the general public except by appointment or special 
invitation. A licensee with a Class W Annual License 
does not need a separate Class W license for each 
private event. 

 
2. Class W Event License, which shall authorize the retail 

sale of alcoholic liquor by caterers solely between the 
hours of eleven o'clock (11:00) A.M. and twelve o'clock 
(12:00) midnight, in connection with, and as an 
incidental part of, the catering of food for a single 
private event at a premises not otherwise licensed for 
the retail sales of alcoholic liquor. A "private event" 
shall be defined as an event not available to the 
general public except by appointment or special 
invitation.  A Class W Event License shall only be valid 
for an event lasting no more than 48 hours. No 
applicant may apply for more than four Class W Event 
Licenses in any calendar year.” 

 
* * * 

 
Section 4. Amendments to Section 3-2-10 of the Village Code.   

 

Section 3 entitled, “Number of Licenses,” of Chapter 2 entitled “Liquor Control,” of 
Title 3 entitled, “Business and License Regulations,” of the Lake Bluff Municipal Code, shall be 
and it is hereby amended as follows: 
 

The maximum number of alcoholic beverage licenses by 
classification thereof available at any time for issuance shall 
be as follows:  



 - 4 -

Class   Number   

    

A   4   

B   0   

C   0   

D   0   

L   No limit   

P   1   

R   2   

S   0   

T   0   

U   1   

V   4   

W Annual License 2   

W Event License No Limit 

X   1   

Y   1   

Z   2   

AA   Unlimited 

 
 
Section 5. Effective Date. 

This Ordinance shall be effective following passage by the Board of Trustees of 
the Village of Lake Bluff in the manner required by law and publication in pamphlet form in the 
manner required by law. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 



 - 5 -

 

PASSED this __ day of ______, 2016, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake 
Bluff, as follows: 

AYES:  ()  

NAYS: () 

ABSTAIN: () 
 
ABSENT: ()  
 
 

APPROVED this __ day of _______, 2016. 

______________________________ 
Village President 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
Village Clerk 

 
 
FIRST READING:  September 12, 2016 
 
SECOND READING:   
 
PASSED:    
 
APPROVED:    
 
PUBLISHED IN PAMPHLET FORM:   



 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
             Agenda Item: 14 

 

Subject: 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SIGN EXEMPTION REQUEST 
FOR CHEVY EXCHANGE AT 1 SHERWOOD TERRACE 

 
Action Requested: 

 
ADOPTION OF THE RESOLUTION  (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
CHEVY EXCHANGE 

 
Referred To:  

 
ARCHITECTURAL BOARD OF REVIEW 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 

The Chevy Exchange is requesting approval of banner signs to hang on existing light poles on 
their lot at 1 Sherwood Terrace. Banner signs are regulated as flags in the L-1 zoning district. 
Those regulations are as follows: 

  “Flags and flagpoles. No more than three (3) flagpoles and four (4) flags shall be 
permitted per zoning lot. Flagpoles shall not be permitted in the public right of way. 
Flagpoles shall be no greater than thirty feet (30') in height and shall be set back a 
minimum of ten feet (10') from all property lines.” 

The Architectural Board of Review (“ABR”) considered the proposed signs at their September 6 
meeting.  At the suggestion of ABR members, the applicant reduced the number of proposed 
banners from the original 34 banners to 10, two each on five poles north of the dealership 
building as shown on attachment 3. The revised proposal requires a sign exemption because it 
exceeds the allowable 4 flags or banners on 3 poles. The banners will be 6’ tall and mounted 4’ 
below the top of existing 25’ tall light poles. The ABR voted 4-2 to recommend that the Village 
Board approve the revised sign exemption request.  The two members voting against the request 
voiced a concern with this approval setting precedent for additional banner signage elsewhere in 
town. 

In preparation for the Village Board’s consideration of the request, the neighboring property 
owners have been notified pursuant to code and a resolution has been prepared transmitting the 
ABR’s recommendation.  Rafat Alamawi, General Manager of the Chevy Exchange, as well as 
Village Staff, will be in attendance at the meeting to answer questions from the Board. 

Reports and Documents Attached: 
1. A copy of  a Resolution Approving a Sign Exemption Request For Chevy Exchange at 1 

Sherwood Terrace; 
2. Drawings of the Proposed Banners;  
3. Site Plan Showing Proposed Banner Locations;  
4. A copy of the September 6, 2016 ABR Staff Report (without Attachments); and 
5. A copy of the Notice Sent to the Contiguous Property Owners. 
 
ABR’s Recommendation:     Adoption of the Resolution.  
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 9/26/2016 



RESOLUTION NO. 2016- 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SIGN EXEMPTION REQUEST  
FOR 1 SHERWOOD TERRACE  

(Chevy Exchange) 
 

  WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 10-10-19B of the Village's Municipal Code, the 
Village Board may grant or deny a request for an exemption from the Village's sign regulations 
following a recommendation from the Architectural Board of Review; and, 
 

WHEREAS, 1 Sherwood Terrace, LLC ("Applicant") is the owner of the property 
located at 1 Sherwood Terrace, Lake Bluff, Illinois (“Property”) within the Village’s L-1 Zoning 
District; and, 

 
WHEREAS, Section 10-10-14D(3) of the Municipal Code limits businesses 

located in the L-1 Zoning District to four flags on three poles; and, 
 

WHEREAS, the Applicant has requested an exemption from the requirements of 
Section 10-10-14D(3) of the Municipal Code to permit the installation of ten flags or banners on 
five existing lightpoles (collectively, "Signs") on the Property” ("Exemption Request"); and, 

 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 10-10-19B of the Municipal Code, the 

Architectural Board of Review considered the Exemption Request at its public meeting on 
September 6, 2016, on which date the Architectural Board of Review recommended that the 
Village Board approve the Exemption Request; and, 

 

 WHEREAS, on or before September 16, 2016, the Village Administrator caused 
notice to be given to the owners of all property contiguous to or directly across the public right-
of-way from the Property of the nature of the Exemption Request and the address of the 
Property; and, 

 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 10-10-19B of the Municipal Code, the Village 
President and Board of Trustees have determined that granting the Exemption Request as 
recommended by the Architectural Board of Review is appropriate due to the special and unique 
circumstances presented by the Property, will not defeat the fundamental purposes and intent of 
Section 10-10-1 of the Municipal Code, and will not be detrimental to the public welfare or 
injurious to the property in the vicinity of the Property. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD 
OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as follows: 

 

Section 1. Recitals. 
 

The foregoing recitals are incorporated herein as findings of the President and 
Board of Trustees. 

 

Section 2. Approval of Sign Exemption. 
 

  Pursuant to Section 10-10-19B of the Municipal Code of the Village of Lake Bluff, 
and subject to and contingent upon satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 3 of this 
Resolution, the Village President and Board of Trustees hereby approve the Exemption Request 
to permit the Applicant to install ten banner signs on five lightpoles on the Property in strict 
compliance with the plans submitted to the Village by the Applicant on August 3 and September 
8, 2016, consisting of two pages, which plans are attached to and incorporated in this 
Resolution as Exhibit A ("Plans").   
 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 1



 2

Section 3. Conditions on Sign Exemption Approval. 
 

The approval granted in Section 2 of this Resolution is hereby subject to and 
contingent upon the following conditions: 

 
A. Compliance with Plans.  The installation, design, and maintenance of the 

Sign must be in strict compliance with the Plans.   
 

B. Compliance with Laws.   In addition to the other specific requirements of 
this Resolution, the Sign must comply at all times with all applicable federal, state, and Village 
statutes, ordinances, resolutions, rules, codes, and regulations, including building, electrical, 
and fire prevention codes. 
 
  Section 4. Effective Date. 
 

A. This Resolution will be effective only upon the occurrence of all of the 
following events: 

i. Passage by the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff in the 
manner required by law; and 

ii. The filing by the Applicant with the Village Clerk, for recording in the 
Office of the Lake County Recorder of Deeds, of an unconditional 
agreement and consent to accept and abide by each and all of the terms, 
conditions, and limitations set forth in this Resolution.  The unconditional 
agreement and consent must be executed by the Applicant.  The 
unconditional agreement and consent must be substantially in the form 
attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit B. 

B. In the event that the Applicant does not file with the Village Clerk the 
unconditional agreement and consent required by Paragraph 4.A (ii) of this Resolution within 60 
days after the date of final passage of this Resolution, the Village Board of Trustees will have 
the right, in their sole discretion, to declare this Resolution null and void and of no force or 
effect.  

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 



 3

 

PASSED this ___ day of _______, 2016, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake 
Bluff, as follows: 
 
AYES:  ()    
 
NAYS:  ()  
 
ABSTAIN: () 
 
ABSENT: ()  
 
 
APPROVED this __ day of _______, 2016. 
 
 
 
        ________________________ 
        Village President 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
Village Clerk 

  

#39922819_v1 



 4

Exhibit A 

Plans 



 5

Exhibit B 
Applicant’s Unconditional Agreement and Consent 

TO: The Village of Lake Bluff, Illinois (“Village”): 

WHEREAS, WHEREAS, One Sherwood Terrace, LLC ("Applicant") is the owner 
of the property located at 1 Sherwood Terrace, Lake Bluff, Illinois (“Property”) within the 
Village’s L-1 Zoning District; and, 

 
WHEREAS, Section 10-10-14D(3) of the Municipal Code limits businesses 

located in the L-1 Zoning District to ; and, 
 

WHEREAS, the Applicant has requested an exemption from the requirements of 
Section 10-10-14B of the Municipal Code to permit the installation of 10 flags or banners on 5 
existing lightpoles (collectively, "Signs") on the Property” ("Exemption Request"); and, 
 

WHEREAS, Resolution No. 2016-__, adopted by the President and Board of 
Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff on _______, 2016, (“Resolution”) grants the Exemption 
Request subject to certain modifications, conditions, restrictions, and provisions; and, 

WHEREAS, Subsection 4.B of the Resolution provides, among other things, that 
the Resolution will be of no force or effect unless and until the Applicant files with the Village 
Clerk, within 60 days following the passage of the Resolution, its unconditional agreement and 
consent to accept and abide by each of the terms, conditions and limitations set forth in said 
Resolution. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Applicant does hereby agree and covenant as follows: 

1. The Applicant hereby unconditionally agrees to accept, consent to, and 
abide by all of the terms, conditions, restrictions, and provisions of the Resolution. 

2. The Applicant acknowledges that public notices and hearings have been 
properly given and held with respect to the adoption of the Resolution, has considered the 
possibility of the revocation provided for in the Resolution, and agrees not to challenge any such 
revocation on the grounds of any procedural infirmity or a denial of any procedural right. 

3. The Applicant acknowledges and agrees that the Village is not and will 
not be, in any way, liable for any damages or injuries that may be sustained as a result of the 
Village’s issuance of any permits for the use of the Property, and that the Village’s issuance of 
any such permits does not, and will not, in any way, be deemed to insure the Applicant against 
damage or injury of any kind and at any time. 

4. The Applicant agrees to and does hereby hold harmless and indemnify 
the Village, the Village’s corporate authorities, and all Village elected and appointed officials, 
officers, employees, agents, representatives, and attorneys, from any and all claims that may, at 
any time, be asserted against any of such parties in connection with the Sign or the Village’s 
adoption of the Resolution granting the Exemption Request. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 

 

 



 2

Dated: ____________, 2016. 
       1 SHERWOOD TERRACE, LLC 
 
By:       By:      
 
Its:       Its:      



cweatherall
Typewritten Text

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 2

cweatherall
Typewritten Text



cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 3



V I L L A G E  O F  L A K E  B L U F F  
 
Memorandum 
 
TO:  Chairman Hunter and Members of the Architectural Board of Review  
 
FROM: Mike Croak, Building Codes Supervisor 
 
DATE:  September 6, 2016 
 
SUBJECT: Agenda Item #5 - Consideration of a Sign Permit for the Chevy Exchange at 1 Sherwood 

Terrace 
 

 
The Chevy Exchange is requesting approval of banner signs to hang on their existing light poles on their lot at 1 
Sherwood Terrace. Banner signs are regulated as flags in the L-1 zoning district. Those regulations are as follows: 

  “Flags and flagpoles. No more than three (3) flagpoles and four (4) flags shall be permitted per 
zoning lot. Flagpoles shall not be permitted in the public right of way. Flagpoles shall be no greater 
than thirty feet (30') in height and shall be set back a minimum of ten feet (10') from all property lines.” 
 

The Chevy Exchange is requesting an exemption from the sign code in order to have 34 banners on 17 existing light 
poles.  They are also requesting an exemption to the 10’ setback requirement for the four poles on the north side of 
the lot, as these poles are 7’ to 9’ from the north property line.  The light poles are 25’ tall and the banners are 
proposed to be 6’ tall. 
 
The following is a chart summarizing the measurements of the proposed sign: 
 

Sign Code L-1 Proposed Signage 

1.)  Four flags on up to 3 poles permitted per lot  
Exemption requested to have 34 banners on 17 

poles 

2.)  Flags shall be no greater than 30’ in height Complies 

3.)  Flagpoles shall be setback a minimum of 10’ from property 
lines 

Exemption requested for 4 poles on the north 
side of the lot 

 
 
The ABR has the authority to: 
 Recommend the Village Board grant or deny an exemption from the Sign Code regulations for the 

signage as presented; 
 Approve a sign permit (with conditions) that complies with all Code regulations; or 
 Deny the sign permit. 

 
Rafat Alamawi of the Chevy Exchange and Village Staff will be in attendance at Tuesday’s meeting to respond to 
questions from the ABR.  If you should have any questions regarding this matter, please feel free to contact me at 
847-283-6885. 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 4



 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Mike Croak  
Building Codes Supervisor 

 
  September 14, 2016 
 
 
Re: Sign Regulation Exemption Request – Chevy Exchange (1 Sherwood Terrace) 
 
 
Dear Owner or Occupant, 
 
The purpose of this letter is to make you aware that the Village Board of Trustees will consider a 
request for an exemption from a portion of the Village’s sign regulations.  Specifically, Chevy 
Exchange (the Petitioner), is requesting an exemption from the L-1 Zoning District Sign 
Regulations, Section 10-10-14D, in order to permit the applicant to install more than 4 banners on 
more than 3 lightpoles.  This request will be considered at the Village Board meeting Monday, 
September 26, 2016 at 7:00 p.m. in the Village Hall Board Room (40 E. Center Avenue).   
 
As the proposed exemption is near your property, this letter is to inform you of the issue and 
invite you to attend the meeting.  If you are unable to attend the meeting you may submit written 
comments in advance of the meeting to: 
 

Village Board of Trustees 
ATTN:  Mike Croak 
40 E. Center Avenue 

Lake Bluff, Illinois 60044 
 
An example of the proposed sign is attached.  If you have any questions regarding this matter, 
please contact me at (847) 283-6885. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Mike Croak 
Building Codes Supervisor 
 
 
  
 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 5

cweatherall
Typewritten Text



 
VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
             Agenda Item: 15 

 

Subject: 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SIGN EXEMPTION REQUEST 
HOMEWERKS WORLDWIDE AT 45-85 ALBRECHT ROAD 

 
Action Requested: 

 
ADOPTION OF THE RESOLUTION  (Roll Call Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
HOMEWERKS WORLDWIDE 

 
Referred To:  

 
ARCHITECTURAL BOARD OF REVIEW 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 

Homewerks Worldwide is a plumbing supply distributer who recently relocated to the building 
at 45-85 Albrecht Drive.  They are proposing one non-illuminated wall sign above the main 
entrance to the building. They are requesting exemptions from two sign code requirements: 
maximum height and maximum area.  The allowable height is 20’ in the L-1 District.  Since the 
windows at the front entrance are over 20’ tall, a wall sign located above the entrance will 
necessarily be more than 20’ tall. The top of the proposed sign will be 32’-4” above grade.  They 
are also requesting an exemption to exceed the maximum allowable area of 60 square feet in 
order to have a 75.7 square foot sign. 

The Architectural Board of Review (“ABR”) considered the proposed signs at their September 6 
meeting and voted 6-0 to recommend that the Village Board approve the Sign Exemption on the 
condition that the top edge of the sign align with the horizontal line on the façade where the wall 
color changes from white to tan. 

In preparation for the Village Board’s consideration of the request, the neighboring property 
owners have been notified of the meeting date and a resolution has been prepared transmitting 
the ABR’s recommendation. Phil Genitoni of the Alphabet Shop (sign contractor for the 
applicant), as well as Village Staff, will be in attendance at the meeting to answer questions from 
the Board. 

Reports and Documents Attached: 
1. A copy of  a Resolution Approving a Sign Exemption Request For Homewerks Worldwide at 

45-85 Albrecht Road; 
2. Drawings of the Proposed Sign;  
3. A copy of the September 6, 2016 ABR Staff Report (without Attachments). 
 
ABR’s Recommendation:     Adoption of the Resolution.  
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation:   Adoption of the Resolution. 
 
Date Referred to Village Board: 9/26/2016 



RESOLUTION NO. 2016- 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SIGN EXEMPTION REQUEST  
FOR 45-85 ALBRECHT DRIVE  

(Homewerks Worldwide) 
 

  WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 10-10-19B of the Village's Municipal Code, the 
Village Board may grant or deny a request for an exemption from the Village's sign regulations 
following a recommendation from the Architectural Board of Review; and, 
 

WHEREAS, Cantera Investors, LLC ("Applicant") is the owner of the property 
located at 45-85 Albrecht Drive, Lake Bluff, Illinois (“Property”) within the Village’s L-1 Zoning 
District; and, 

 
WHEREAS, Section 10-10-14D(9) of the Municipal Code limits wall sign to a 

maximum height of 20’ and a maximum area of 60 square feet; and, 
 

WHEREAS, the Applicant has requested an exemption from the requirements of 
Section 10-10-14D(9) of the Municipal Code to permit the installation of a wall sign ("Sign") on 
the Property which exceeds the allowable height of 20’ by an additional 12’-4” and which 
exceeds the allowable area of 60 square feet by an additional 15.7 square feet ("Exemption 
Request"); and, 

 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 10-10-19B of the Municipal Code, the 

Architectural Board of Review considered the Exemption Request at its public meeting on 
September 6, 2016, on which date the Architectural Board of Review recommended that the 
Village Board approve the Exemption Request; and, 

 

 WHEREAS, on or before September 16, 2016, the Village Administrator caused 
notice to be given to the owners of all property contiguous to or directly across the public right-
of-way from the Property of the nature of the Exemption Request and the address of the 
Property; and, 

 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 10-10-19B of the Municipal Code, the Village 
President and Board of Trustees have determined that granting the Exemption Request as 
recommended by the Architectural Board of Review is appropriate due to the special and unique 
circumstances presented by the Property, will not defeat the fundamental purposes and intent of 
Section 10-10-1 of the Municipal Code, and will not be detrimental to the public welfare or 
injurious to the property in the vicinity of the Property. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD 
OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as follows: 

 

Section 1. Recitals. 
 

The foregoing recitals are incorporated herein as findings of the President and 
Board of Trustees. 

 

Section 2. Approval of Sign Exemption. 
 

  Pursuant to Section 10-10-19B of the Municipal Code of the Village of Lake Bluff, 
and subject to and contingent upon satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 3 of this 
Resolution, the Village President and Board of Trustees hereby approve the Exemption Request 
to permit the Applicant to install the wall sign on the Property in strict compliance with the plans 
submitted to the Village by the Applicant on August 11, 2016, consisting of one page, which 
plans are attached to and incorporated in this Resolution as Exhibit A ("Plans").   

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 1



 2

 

Section 3. Conditions on Sign Exemption Approval. 
 

The approval granted in Section 2 of this Resolution is hereby subject to and 
contingent upon the following conditions: 

 
A. Compliance with Plans.  The installation, design, and maintenance of the 

Sign must be in strict compliance with the Plans.   
 

B. Compliance with Laws.   In addition to the other specific requirements of 
this Resolution, the Sign must comply at all times with all applicable federal, state, and Village 
statutes, ordinances, resolutions, rules, codes, and regulations, including building, electrical, 
and fire prevention codes. 
 
  Section 4. Effective Date. 
 

A. This Resolution will be effective only upon the occurrence of all of the 
following events: 

i. Passage by the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff in the 
manner required by law; and 

ii. The filing by the Applicant with the Village Clerk, for recording in the 
Office of the Lake County Recorder of Deeds, of an unconditional 
agreement and consent to accept and abide by each and all of the terms, 
conditions, and limitations set forth in this Resolution.  The unconditional 
agreement and consent must be executed by the Applicant.  The 
unconditional agreement and consent must be substantially in the form 
attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit B. 

B. In the event that the Applicant does not file with the Village Clerk the 
unconditional agreement and consent required by Paragraph 4.A (ii) of this Resolution within 60 
days after the date of final passage of this Resolution, the Village Board of Trustees will have 
the right, in their sole discretion, to declare this Resolution null and void and of no force or 
effect.  

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 



 3

 

PASSED this ___ day of _______, 2016, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake 
Bluff, as follows: 
 
AYES:  ()    
 
NAYS:  ()  
 
ABSTAIN: () 
 
ABSENT: ()  
 
 
APPROVED this __ day of _______, 2016. 
 
 
 
        ________________________ 
        Village President 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
Village Clerk 

  

#39922819_v1 



 4

Exhibit A 

Plans 



 5

Exhibit B 
Applicant’s Unconditional Agreement and Consent 

TO: The Village of Lake Bluff, Illinois (“Village”): 

WHEREAS, WHEREAS, Homewerks Worldwide ("Applicant") is the tenant in the 
property owned by Cantera Investors, LLC ("Owner") and located at 45-85 Albrecht Drive, Lake 
Bluff, Illinois (“Property”) within the Village’s L-1 Zoning District; and, 

 
WHEREAS, Section 10-10-14D(9) of the Municipal Code limits businesses 

located in the L-1 Zoning District to; and, 
 

WHEREAS, the Applicant has requested an exemption from the requirements of 
Section 10-10-14B of the Municipal Code to permit the installation of a wall sign ("Sign") on the 
Property” ("Exemption Request"); and, 
 

WHEREAS, Resolution No. 2016-__, adopted by the President and Board of 
Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff on _______, 2016, (“Resolution”) grants the Exemption 
Request subject to certain modifications, conditions, restrictions, and provisions; and, 

WHEREAS, Subsection 4.B of the Resolution provides, among other things, that 
the Resolution will be of no force or effect unless and until the Applicant files with the Village 
Clerk, within 60 days following the passage of the Resolution, its unconditional agreement and 
consent to accept and abide by each of the terms, conditions and limitations set forth in said 
Resolution. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Applicant does hereby agree and covenant as follows: 

1. The Applicant hereby unconditionally agrees to accept, consent to, and 
abide by all of the terms, conditions, restrictions, and provisions of the Resolution. 

2. The Applicant acknowledges that public notices and hearings have been 
properly given and held with respect to the adoption of the Resolution, has considered the 
possibility of the revocation provided for in the Resolution, and agrees not to challenge any such 
revocation on the grounds of any procedural infirmity or a denial of any procedural right. 

3. The Applicant acknowledges and agrees that the Village is not and will 
not be, in any way, liable for any damages or injuries that may be sustained as a result of the 
Village’s issuance of any permits for the use of the Property, and that the Village’s issuance of 
any such permits does not, and will not, in any way, be deemed to insure the Applicant against 
damage or injury of any kind and at any time. 

4. The Applicant agrees to and does hereby hold harmless and indemnify 
the Village, the Village’s corporate authorities, and all Village elected and appointed officials, 
officers, employees, agents, representatives, and attorneys, from any and all claims that may, at 
any time, be asserted against any of such parties in connection with the Sign or the Village’s 
adoption of the Resolution granting the Exemption Request. 

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 

 

 



 2

Dated: ____________, 2016. 
 
 
HOMEWERKS WORLDWIDE   CANTERA INVESTORS, LLC 
 
By:       By:      
 
Its:       Its:      



cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 2



V I L L A G E  O F  L A K E  B L U F F  
 
Memorandum 
 
TO:  Chairman Hunter and Members of the Architectural Board of Review  
 
FROM: Mike Croak, Building Codes Supervisor 
 
DATE:  September 6, 2016 
 
SUBJECT: Agenda Item #4 - Consideration of a Sign Permit for Homewerks Worldwide at 45-85 

Albrecht Road 
 

 
Homewerks Worldwide is a plumbing supply distributer who recently relocated to the building at 45-85 Albrecht 
Drive.  They are proposing one wall sign above the main entrance to the building. They are requesting exemptions 
from two sign code requirements: maximum height and maximum area.  The allowable height is 20’ in the L-1 
District.  Since the windows at the front entrance are over 20’ tall, a wall sign located above the entrance will 
necessarily be more than 20’ tall. The top of the proposed sign will be 32’-4” above grade.  They are also requesting 
an exemption to exceed the maximum allowable area of 60 square feet in order to have a 75.7 square foot sign. 
 
The following is a chart summarizing the measurements of the proposed sign: 
 

Sign Code L-1 Proposed Signage 

1.)  One wall sign permitted per lot  Complies 

2.)  Sign shall not exceed 60 sq ft in area Exemption requested to be 75.7 sq ft 

3.)  Maximum allowable sign height is 20’ 
Exemption requested to be 32’-4” to the top of 

the sign 

 
 
The ABR has the authority to: 
 Recommend the Village Board grant or deny an exemption from the Sign Code regulations for the 

signage as presented; 
 Approve a sign permit (with conditions) that complies with all Code regulations; or 
 Deny the sign permit. 

 
Phil Genitoni of the Alphabet Shop and Village Staff will be in attendance at Tuesday’s meeting to respond to 
questions from the ABR.  If you should have any questions regarding this matter, please feel free to contact me at 
847-283-6885. 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 3



VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 

 
             Agenda Item:  16 

 
Subject: AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A VARIATION FROM THE VILLAGE’S SIDE YARD 

SETBACK REGULATIONS (311 E. Center Avenue) 

 
Action Requested: 

 
FIRST READING APPROVAL OF THE ORDINANCE (Voice Vote) 

 
Originated By: 

 
HELEN F.S. TUNNY  (Petitioner)  

 
Referred To:  

 
JOINT PLAN COMMISSION & ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

 
Summary of Background and Reason For Request: 
 
In June 2016 the Village received a zoning application from Ms. Helen Tunny (Petitioner), property owner of 
311 E. Center Avenue, seeking zoning relief from the Village’s accessory structure minimum setback 
regulations to allow for the construction of a two-car garage (440 sq. ft.) in the rear yard.  If permitted the 
proposed garage would encroach into the accessory structure interior side yard and rear yard setbacks.  
According to the Petitioner, the requested zoning relief allows more space to safely enter both garage stalls.  
Currently, the property contains a two-story house, rear deck and detached shed located at the rear of the 
property.  
 
At its meeting on July 20th the Plan Commission and Zoning Board of Appeals (PCZBA) conducted a public 
hearing to consider the Petitioner’s initial request to allow the garage to exceed the minimum 5 ft. setback 
requirement and be within 2 ft. of the interior side lot line (60% variation) and within 3 ft. of the rear lot line (or 
40% variation).  The PCZBA continued the public hearing to allow the Petitioner additional time to solicit 
feedback from neighbors and to explore setback distances that are comparable to the garage immediately to the 
east.  
 
On September 21st the Petitioner presented an amended plan and the PCZBA unanimously (6-0): 

 recommended the Village Board approve a 40% variation from the minimum accessory structure 
interior lot line setback regulations to allow a setback of 2 ft.; and 

 approved, contingent on the Village Board’s approval of the interior lot line setback zoning relief, a 
25% variation from the minimum accessory structure rear lot line setback regulations to allow a setback 
of 3.75 ft. with the conditions that a) the shed and the rear deck/steps are removed and ii) the pavers for 
the new patio (as shown on the plans) is built using permeable pavers. These conditions are necessary to 
ensure the property satisfies the Village’s floor area limitations.  

The Petitioner and Village Staff will be in attendance at the meeting to answer questions from the Board. 
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
 

1. An Ordinance Granting Requested Zoning Relief for 311 E. Center Avenue;  
2. Zoning Application and Related Materials; and 
3. PCZBA Staff Reports Dated July 15 and September 16, 2016 (without attachments). 

 
PCZBA’s Recommendation:  Approval of the Ordinance.  
 
Village Administrator’s Recommendation: Consideration of First Reading of the Ordinance.  

Date Referred to Village Board: 9/26/2016 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2016-__ 
 
 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A VARIATION FROM  
THE VILLAGE’S SIDE YARD SETBACK REGULATIONS 

 
(311 East Center) 

 
 
 

Passed by the Board of Trustees,  ________________, 2016 

Printed and Published,  __________________, 2016 
 
 
 
 

Printed and Published in Pamphlet Form 
by Authority of the 

President and Board of Trustees 

VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF 
LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
I hereby certify that this document 
was properly published on the date 
stated above. 
 
 
 
      
Village Clerk 

cweatherall
Typewritten Text
ATTACHMENT 1



-2- 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A VARIATION FROM 
THE VILLAGE’S SIDE YARD SETBACK REGULATIONS 

 
(311 East Center) 

 
WHEREAS, Helen F.S. Tunney ("Applicant") is the owner of the property 

located in the Village’s R-4 “B" Residence District ("R-4 District") at 311 East Center, Lake 
Bluff, Illinois, which is legally described on Exhibit A attached hereto (“Property”); and 

WHEREAS, on June 22, 2016, the Applicant submitted an application 
(“Application”), seeking the following relief: (1) a three-foot (60%) variation from the minimum 
interior side lot line setback requirements of Section 10-5-9C of the Zoning Regulations; and (2) 
a two-foot (40%) variation from the minimum rear lot line setback requirements of Section 10-5-
9C of the Zoning Regulations; and 

WHEREAS, on July 20, 2016, the Village’s Joint Plan Commission and Zoning 
Board of Appeals (“PCZBA”) conducted a duly-noticed public hearing to consider the 
Application and continued the public hearing to allow the Applicant to solicit feedback from 
neighbors and to explore setback distances that are comparable to the garage immediately to 
the east of the Property at 313 East Center, Lake Bluff, Illinois; and 

WHEREAS, on August 2, 2016, the Applicant submitted a revised application 
attached hereto as Exhibit B (“Revised Application”), seeking the following relief: (1) a two-
foot (40%) variation from the minimum interior side lot line setback requirements of Section 10-
5-9C of the Zoning Regulations (“Side Yard Setback Variation”); and (2) a 1.25 foot (25%) 
variation from the minimum rear lot line setback requirements of Section 10-5-9C of the Zoning 
Regulations (“Rear Yard Setback Variation”); and 

WHEREAS, on September 21, 2016, the PCZBA conducted a duly-noticed public 
hearing to consider the Revised Application and: (1) recommended that the Village Board of 
Trustees grant the Side Yard Setback Variation with conditions; and (2) granted the Rear Yard 
Setback Variation contingent upon the Village Board of Trustees’ granting of the Side Yard 
Setback Variation; and 

WHEREAS, the Village Board of Trustees has final authority to grant the Side 
Yard Setback Variation pursuant to Sections 10-2-4A and 10-4-2E of the Zoning Regulations, 
and  

 WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees have determined that it would 
be in the best interest of the Village to grant the Side Yard Setback Variation in accordance 
with, and subject to, the conditions, restrictions, and provisions of this Ordinance; 

 

 

 

 

 



-3- 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE BLUFF, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Recitals.  

The foregoing recitals are incorporated into this Ordinance as the findings of the 
President and Board of Trustees.  

Section 2. Public Hearing.  

A public hearing to consider the Application, as later amended by the Revised 
Application, was duly advertised on or before July 2, 2016 in the Lake County News-Sun, and 
held by the PCZBA on July 20, 2016 and on September 21, 2016, and on September 21, 2016, 
the PCZBA recommended approval of the Side Yard Setback Variation and approved the Rear 
Yard Setback Variation subject to the conditions set forth in Section 4 of this Ordinance. 

Section 3. Grant of Variation. 

Pursuant to the standards and procedures set forth in Section 10-2-4 of the Lake 
Bluff Zoning Regulations and subject to and contingent upon the conditions, restrictions, and 
provisions set forth in Section 4 of this Ordinance, the Side Yard Setback Variation, a variation 
of approximately two feet (40%) from the restrictions of Section 10-5-9C of the Zoning 
Regulations, to permit the accessory structure to encroach into the required side yard setback 
for the Property as depicted in the Application, is hereby granted.  

Section 4. Conditions of Approval. 

The Side Yard Setback Variation granted in Section 3 of this Ordinance is hereby 
expressly subject to and contingent upon each of the conditions set forth in this Section. 

A. Compliance with Application.  The Property and all operations conducted 
thereon must be developed, used, maintained, and located in substantial compliance with this 
Ordinance and the Revised Application attached to this Ordinance as Exhibit B. 

B. Compliance with Applicable Law.  In addition to the other specific 
requirements of this Ordinance, the Property, and all operations conducted thereon must 
comply at all times with all applicable federal, state, and Village statutes, ordinances, 
resolutions, rules, codes, and regulations, including building, electrical, and fire prevention 
codes. 

C. Existing Deck and Stairs Removal. Applicant must remove the existing 
deck attached to the rear of the principal structure on the Property and any stairs that provide 
access to the deck either from the principal structure or from the rear or side yards. 

D. New Patio. Any patio installed or constructed on the Property by the 
Applicant must be constructed using permeable pavement.  

Section 5. Failure to Comply With Conditions. 

Upon failure or refusal of the Applicant, or any of its officers, employees, or 
agents, to comply with any or all of the conditions, restrictions, or provisions of this Ordinance, 
the variations granted in this Ordinance will, at the sole discretion of the Village Board of 
Trustees, by ordinance duly adopted, be revoked and become null and void. 



-4- 

  Section 6. Binding Effect; Non-Transferability. 

  The privileges, obligations, and provisions of each and every Section of this 
Ordinance are for and will inure to the benefit of and run with and bind the Property, unless 
otherwise explicitly set forth in this Ordinance. 

  Section 7. No Third Party Beneficiaries.   

  Nothing in this Ordinance creates, or will be construed or interpreted to create, 
any third party beneficiary rights. 
 
  Section 8. Effective Date. 
 

A. This Ordinance will be effective only upon the occurrence of all of the 
following events: 

i. Passage by the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff in 
the manner required by law;  

ii. Printing and publication of this Ordinance in the manner required 
by law; and 

iii. The filing by the Applicant with the Village Clerk, for recording in 
the Office of the Lake County Recorder of Deeds, of an 
unconditional agreement and consent to accept and abide by 
each and all of the terms, conditions, and limitations set forth in 
this Ordinance.  The unconditional agreement and consent must 
be executed by the Applicant.  The unconditional agreement and 
consent must be substantially in the form attached hereto and 
incorporated herein as Exhibit C. 

B. In the event that the Applicant does not file with the Village Clerk the 
unconditional agreement and consent required by Paragraph 8.A(iii) of this Ordinance within 60 
days after the date of final passage of this Ordinance, the Village Board of Trustees will have 
the right, in their sole discretion, to declare this Ordinance null and void and of no force or effect.  

PASSED this ____ day of _________, 2016, by vote of the Board of Trustees of the Village of 
Lake Bluff, as follows: 

AYES:  (  )  

NAYS:  (  )  

ABSTAIN: (  )  

ABSENT: (  )  

APPROVED this ____ day of _________, 2016. 
 
 
               
       Village President 
ATTEST: 
 



-5- 

     
Village Clerk 
 
FIRST READING:         

SECOND READING:         

PASSED:          

APPROVED:          

PUBLISHED IN PAMPHLET FORM:        

#48137722_v1 



Exhibit A 

Description of Subject Property 
 

PARCEL 1 LOTS 18 & 19 IN BLOCK 4 IN THE ORIGINAL PLAT OF THE VILLAGE OF LAKE 
BLUFF, A SUBDIVISION OF THE SOUTHEAST PART OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF 
SECTION 21, TOWNSHIP 44 NORTH, RANGE 12, EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL 
MERIDIAN, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF, RECORDED MARCH 15, 1877 AS 
DOCUMENT 16918 IN BOOK “A” OF PLATS, PAGE 95, IN LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS AND 
PARCEL 2 RECORDED SEPTEMBER 1, 1928 AS DOCUMENT 323801 IN LAKE COUNTY, 
ILLINOIS 
 
PIN # 12-21-121-002 
 
Commonly known as 311 East Center, Lake Bluff, IL 
 



-2- 

Exhibit B 
 

Revised Application 
  



 

Exhibit C 
 

Applicant’s Unconditional Agreement and Consent 

TO: The Village of Lake Bluff, Illinois (“Village”): 

WHEREAS, Helen F.S. Tunney ("Applicant") is the owner of the property 
located in the Village’s R-4 “B" Residence District ("R-4 District") at 311 East Center, Lake 
Bluff, Illinois, which is legally described on Exhibit A attached hereto (“Property”); and 

WHEREAS, on June 22, 2016, the Applicant submitted an application ( 
“Application”), seeking the following relief: (1) a three-foot (60%) variation from the minimum 
interior side lot line setback requirements of Section 10-5-9C of the Zoning Regulations; and (2) 
a two-foot (40%) variation from the minimum rear lot line setback requirements of Section 10-5-
9C of the Zoning Regulations; and 

WHEREAS, on August 2, 2016, the Applicant submitted a revised application 
attached hereto as Exhibit B (“Revised Application”), seeking the following relief: (1) a two-
foot (40%) variation from the minimum interior side lot line setback requirements of Section 10-
5-9C of the Zoning Regulations (“Side Yard Setback Variation”); and (2) a 1.25 foot (25%) 
variation from the minimum rear lot line setback requirements of Section 10-5-9C of the Zoning 
Regulations (“Rear Yard Setback Variation”); and 

WHEREAS, on September 21, 2016, the Village’s Joint Plan Commission and 
Zoning Board of Appeals (“PCZBA”) conducted a duly-noticed public hearing to consider the 
Revised Application and: (1) recommended that the Village Board of Trustees grant the Side 
Yard Setback Variation with conditions; and (2) granted the Rear Yard Setback Variation 
contingent upon the Village Board of Trustees’ granting of the Side Yard Setback Variation; and 

WHEREAS, Ordinance No. ___________, adopted by the President and Board 
of Trustees of the Village of Lake Bluff on _____________, 2016, (“Ordinance”) approves the 
requested Side Yard Setback Variation, subject to certain modifications, conditions, restrictions, 
and provisions; and 

WHEREAS, Subsection 8.B of the Ordinance provides, among other things, that 
the Ordinance will be of no force or effect unless and until the Applicants file with the Village 
Clerk, within 60 days following the passage of the Ordinance, its unconditional agreement and 
consent to accept and abide by each of the terms, conditions and limitations set forth in said 
Ordinance; 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Applicant does hereby agree and covenant as follows: 

1. The Applicant hereby unconditionally agrees to accept, consent to, and 
abide by all of the terms, conditions, restrictions, and provisions of the Ordinance. 

2. The Applicant acknowledges that public notices and hearings have been 
properly given and held with respect to the adoption of the Ordinance and the PCZBA’s 
approval of the Rear Yard Setback Variation, have considered the possibility of the revocation 
provided for in the Ordinance, and agree not to challenge any such revocation on the grounds of 
any procedural infirmity or a denial of any procedural right. 

3. The Applicant acknowledges and agrees that the Village is not and will 
not be, in any way, liable for any damages or injuries that may be sustained as a result of the 
Village’s issuance of any permits or approvals for the use of the Property, and that the Village’s 
issuance of any such permits or approvals does not, and will not, in any way, be deemed to 
insure the Applicant against damage or injury of any kind and at any time. 

4. The Applicant agrees to and hereby holds harmless and indemnify the 
Village, the Village’s corporate authorities, and all Village elected and appointed officials, 
officers, employees, agents, representatives, and attorneys, from any and all claims that may, at 



 

any time, be asserted against any of such parties in connection with the operation and use of 
the Property, or the Village’s adoption of the Ordinance approving the Variation. 

 
 
 
Dated: ____________, 2016. 
 
 
ATTEST:      HELEN F.S. TUNNEY 
 
 
By:       By:        
 
Its:       Its:        
 
 
 
 


























































